IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR
THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF GEORGIA
MACON DIVISION
{Redacted Version}
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT

}
}
¥5. ) CEIM. NO.
J .
: ) VIOLATIONS:
DWIGHT D. YORK, A/E/A )
DR.MALACHI Z. YORK, A/K/A ) 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d)}-RICO Conspiracy
ISA MUHAMMATD, A/K/A } 18 US.C. § 1962(c}-RICO Acts
ISA ALHAADIALMAFDIAND ) 18US.C. § 371-MANN Act Conspiracy -
AFSA "BABAT ) 18 US.C §2423(a) MANN Act- Minor Transport
) 18 1L5.C. § 2423(b)-MANN Act Travel
) 18 US.C. § 3283-MANN Act Limitations Stahgic
} 18 US.C.§ 2-Arding and Abetiing
) 31 U.S.CL § 5324(a)(3)-Structuring Cash
) 18 11.5.C. §1963-RICO Forfeitire
) 18 ULS.C. § 2253{a){3}-MANN Act Forfeilure
) 18 U.8.C. § 2253{0)}-MANN Act Forfeiture

THE GRAND JURY CHARGES:

_ COTNT ONE
{Conspiracy to Commit Racketeering Violations)

From 1n or about January 1988, and cdntinuing through May 8, 2002, in the Middle
District of Georgia and elsewhere within the jurisdiction of this Court, the Defendant
DWIGHT D. YORK, a/k/a DR. MALACHI Z. YORK, a/kia _
[SA MUHAMMAD, a/%/a ISA AL HAADI Al MAHDI and a/k/a “BABA®
{hereinafter eferred to as “DWIGHT YORK™),
being a person employed by and associated with an enterprise described in Paragraph A belaw,
which was engaged in, and the activities of which a'ffactad, tnterstate commerce, did tnowingly
and willfully combine, conspire, confederate and agree, and have tacit understanding with

unindicted co-conspirators and others, known and unknown to the Grand Jury, to violate Title 18,

United States Code, Section 1962{c); 4hat is, to conduct and participate, directly and indirectly, in



the conduct uf the affairs of the enterprise through a pattern of racketzering activity, as defined ip
Titte 18, United States Code, Sections 1961(1) and (5}, which consisted of multiple acts of:

(1) transporiing minors in interstate commerce for purpases of engaging in unlawiui
sexual activity, which is indictable under Title 18, United Stata; Cﬂd.t’:, Section .2423(3)., and
‘which is defined as knowingly transporting .and causing to be transported indi‘i-.'iduaIs th had
not attained the age of eighteen years, in interstate commerce, with the intent that such minors
engage in unlawful sexual zu:tivity for which a person can be charged with a crimina] offense,
including, but not limited to, violations of Georgia Ccrde Sections 16-6-4 and 16- 6 5, lhf::
individuals not hdﬂ ng yst re:mhc,d the age Gf bwernty- ﬁva years in accordance with Title 18,
United States Code, Section 3283

{2) traveling In inferstate commerce for the purpose of engaging in unlawful sexual
activity with Ijﬁnnrs, which is indictable under Title 18, Uﬁ.itm_i States Code, Section 2423(b),
and which is defined as knowingly traveling in interstate conunerce for the purpose of engaging |
i an unlawful bﬂxual acl as defined in Title 18, United States Code, Soctmn 2246(2), with a
person under the age of clghtmn and under such circumstances as would constitute a vialation of
Title 18, United States Code, Section 2243{3}, had the seiual acts accurred in the special
maritime and territorial jurisdiction of the United States, the person not having yet
reached the age of twenty-five ycars in acx;ardancﬂ with Title 18, United States Code, Section
3283; and

{3) structuring. cash transactions to evade currency ﬁmactinns reporting
r&duircmenté_which 15 indictable ur:de.r Title 31, United States Code, Section 3324(a)(3), aﬁd

‘ﬂ;-’hich 15 defined as knowingly and willfully, and for the purpose of evading reporting



requrements of T1 tie 31, United States Code, Section 3313(a}, and the regulations promulgated
t.harein, assisling in structunng a ﬂnam.;i,al tﬁmacﬁnn with a domestic financial ihstitulicrn,
whpose dePosits.were then insured by the Federal Dcpﬁsit Insurance Corparation, b.}r malkang
muitiple dcpnsits.é:l' United States currency in amounts less than $10,000.00, in violation of Title
31, United States Code, Section 5324(a)(3), in Cl.'_!.ﬂ];l.l‘.‘-(.‘-tiﬂﬂ with Title 31, United States Code,

Section 5313(a), and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.

LA THE ENTERPRISE |

At.ali times matenal to this Superseding Indictment, Lhurc cxisted an orgamizalion,
':;urrcntty calied the United Nation of Nuwaubian Moors (hereinafter referred to as the
“MNuwaubians™), that was also known as The Tents ofKﬁdar,. Ansaru ﬁliah Communmty, Ancienl
M}F‘Sﬂl.: Order of the Melchigadf:k. and Al Maﬁdi.Sbﬁnmﬁs, The Nuwaub_ians cperated primarily
m Kings County, New York, Sullivan Couunty, New York, Athens-Clarke County, Georgia, Bibb
County, Gaﬁrgia,.a_nd Putnam County, Georgla, The Nuwaubians ﬁrer'i_.a 2 religious organization
that consisted of approximately S,ﬁﬂﬂ Iﬁambers; h1c1udiqg, but not lumted to, DWIGHT YORK
and urundicted co-conspiratars ﬁﬁd others, both known and unknown te the Grand Jury.

At all times matcﬁal to this Superseding Indictme;nL.tth MNuwaubians, including 1[5
laadership and meinbers, Goustitutt;d an “enterpnsge,” as dehined by -Titl‘.:: 18, United States Code,
Sccﬂgn 196G l'(-_1}.; that is, a group of individuals associated in fact, although not a lcéal'enﬁty. The
enterprise constituted an ongoing &g‘_a.niz.atinn_ whose members functioned as a continuing unit |
for the common purpose of achif:ving the; objectives of the enterprise. This enterprise was

engaged in, and its activities affected -interstate commerce.



At all mes malterial wo this Superseding Indictment, DWIGHT YORK was the leader of
the enterprise who participated in, and directed and managed other members of the enterprise in
carrying out unlawful and other activities in fartherance of the conduct of the enterprise,
including the transport of minors in interstate commerce for purposes of t;:ngﬁging in unlawful
Isgxual acti_viti,r, traveling in iniﬁl"&'tﬂlﬂ commerce for puq;-ose.s of engaping in unlawful sexual
actvity arlui the structuning of cash transactions to cva&s CUITENCY ttansara.tinns reporting

Iequirements.

B.  PURPOSES OF THE ENTERPRISE

It was a purpese of the enterprise that DWIGHT YORK, as the leader of the
Nﬁwaubiang, aﬁd with the assistance of other members of the enterprise, created living
communities for men, women and children who became followers of hi; religicus 1eachiug;s,
DWIGHT YORI amf; other members of the enterprise would segregate minor agcﬂ boys and
. girls residing in his commumities from their pacents, groom minors for purposes of 'e-ngaging n’
nnlawfui sexual astivi.l}r, engags with minors in unlawful sexual .activity and Umﬂ minors in
nterstate commerce for purposcs of engaging in uniawful sexual .activit_v,

It was a further purpose of the enterprise that DWIGHT YORK kept minor victims and
their parents, and his other followers in [ear of the enterprise, and in fear of its members, Lhrm.1gh

violence and threats of violence.

1t was a further purpose of the enterpnse that DWIGHT YORK, with the assistance of

-

other members of the enterprise, would and did atternpt to conceal the activities of the enterprise



from the outside community by requinng that its members, its followers and their children, resiﬁe
and work on praperties owned and C{:;ntm lled bj,r the entcrpﬁse.

It was a further pmposr:: of the enterprise that DWIGIIT YORK, with the assistance of
other members of the cnterpnse marntained the sccrecy of the enterprise by directing its

mernbers to conceal the financial activities of fhe enterprise by strrcturing cash transaﬂt_inns to

evade currency transaction reporling requirernents.

€. MANNER AND MEANS OF THE ENTERPRISE

The manner and means used by the cntf:rpl'ls& to further 15 goals and achlcve ll'.S I;.Il.ll”pﬂsc’i'
tnciude the follc-wmg

(i) DWIGHT YDRK.diract.cd t%hat other members of the enterprise, his followers
and their children, live and work in tightly confrolled communities that consisted of buildings
and land ovned and ad;ninist.sred by the entf:rpﬂf.e;

(2) DWIGHT YORK created ali the rul;# for the enterprise, its other msmb.ars and
his followers and their children, and impozéd punishments for infractions;

{3) DWIGHT YORK and other members of the enterprise, Laught. followers tiat
DWIGHT YORK was a god-like figure:

{4) DWIGHT YORXK and other members of the enterprise, directed that his'.
followers refer to him as “Imam Esa,” terms they were taught meant “father and “Jegus™
respectively in arabic. )
| (5)  DWIGHT YORK and other members of the enterprise, taught minor aged

followers to call DWIGHT YORK “Baba,” another name for father:

LN



{6) DWIGHT YORK directed that other members of the .enterprise, its followers and
 their children, live segregated by sex and age, such that women and men fived in separate h(_}II;ISﬂS,
and children lived in houses separate from their parents and sagregatcﬂ ny ape and sex;
(7)  DWIGHT YORK determined when married couples could engage in sexual
1mla.tiu.ns; _ |
. (%) | DWIGHT YORK and other members of the enterpnse, claimed that the -
enterprise’ s residential and v;'c-rk comumunities constituted a sovereign nation, and provided
. mgmbars_hn[ the enterprise and .its followers with frawdulent pa_sspﬁrt;;;
(9) - DWIGHT YORX and other members c.rf th:‘;. CIItﬁl‘IFEI["iS'S, tauglﬁ children residing
on p.ropcrties owned by the enterprise to obey DWIGHT YORK instead of their parents;
(10) | DWIGHT YORK and other members of the eﬁtarprise, administered the
_enterpnse’s c.ummunitiﬁs so that residenis relied ﬁn DWIGHT YORK fer all nmsiﬁes,
meluding food, clothing, money and pétscnal hyeiene items;
(11 '-D\VIGHT YORK '::-rdf:md other members of the eaterprise, that were his sexual
| parﬁlcrs, to bring minor aged boys and girls to him for. purposes of enpaging with them in
unlaﬁﬁzl sexual activity;
(12) To isolate and entice cliiid victims selected fﬂtIDWIGHT YORK'S unlawful
sexual activity, DWIGHT YORX and other members of the enterprise, invited child victims to
clean and work 1o his pri_ﬁtc residences located on properties owned ;uy the enterprise;

(13) DWIGHT YORK targeted minor aged siblings as victims of his unlawful sexual

antivities:



(14} D‘@'IGHT YORK, along with other members of the enterprise, gave minor aged
victims instructions on how to perform sexual acts fmf and with ﬁWIGHT YORK; .

{i3) DWIGHT YORK, and ather mexﬁbers of the enterprise, showed minor victims
pornographic v%dm tapes;

(16) DWIGHT YORK, and other members of he enterprise, told minor, female
victims that it was normal, as part of 3 custom purportedly practiced in Sudan, Africa, for fathe_rs
and uncles to engage 1n sexual acts with their daughters and nieces fﬂ_.r the purpose of i:rﬂparing
minor fertales for marriage; ..

(17} DWIGHT YORIC and other members of the enterprise, instructed older minor
victims to recruit younger children for purposes of engaging in unlawifutl sexual activity;

(18) DWIGHT YORK and other members of the mterprisfe,-emplnycd ccﬁain
metheds for grunming mINOT victims into engaging in unlawful sexual activity, inciuding
prosuses and gifts of jewelry, food, clothing and other _spe.cial priviiﬂges;

{19) “PWIGHT YORK supplied minor vietims with alcoholic beverages prior to
engaging with them in unlawful se.xua.] activity;

{20) DWIGHT YORK and other mer.nbers of the enterprise, sexually r_ﬁalcsted MInOLS
in'gmups with other children, ard in gmup.s with members of the enterprise;

(21} DWIGHT YORK, Kathy Johnson and other members of the enterprise, video
taped DWIGHT YORK’S unlawful sexual activity with minors:

(22)  DWIGHT YORK destroyed, and ordered others to destroy, pornographic video

tapes;



(23) DWIGHT YORK and members o.f the eﬁlerprise, promoted a climate of fear
ANOLE MINOT Victims ﬂmﬁgh threats of violence directed at minor victims 31.1::1 theﬁ parcnlé,
threats of an.d expulsion from the organization’s residential communities, and the loss to-mingors,
who refused DW’[GH'I.‘. YORK’S sexual advances, qf gifts of food, clothing and special
-p.tivi]cges; |

(24) DWIGHT YORK promoted the activities of the enterprise, by purchasing large,

isolated real properties where minors could be sexually molested withoul the knowledge of and
opposition from the outside corruﬁunilj,:. . . R

{25y DWIGHT Y.ORK and other members of the .cntcrprise', transported and caused to
be transported munor aped victims in Interstate commerce for purposes of engaging in unlz}wﬁil-
sexual ax;ti?iry;

(26) D“’IGHT YORK traveled in interstate commerce for purposes of mgagmg 1,
unlawful sexual activity with minors;

(27)  DWIGHT YORK and other membe.rs of the anterprlﬁ, mﬁﬁnued o engape in
unJawful sexual activity with victims unti] t.he victims were able to leave property owned by the
enterprise; |

{28) DWIGHT YORK and other members of the enterprise, maintained the secrecy of
the enterpnse by forbidding minor aged victims, when sc{:kjﬁg medical attention, to answer the
questions of medical personnel;

(29) DWIGHT YORK further &mintaim:d the secrecy of the enterprise by using and’
tlllrcatmi_ng to use physical violence against various individuals;

-



(30 DWIGHT YORK further maintained the secrecy of the enterprise by directing its
members to conceal (he financial activities of the enterprise;

(31} DWIGHT YORK and other memh;f:-rs of the coterpnise usgd in‘mrp.c camed by
the enterprise to further DWIGHT YDRK’.S.unIawﬁll se;m.cual_activiry with mmors, through the
-purChESﬂE of glﬂs visits to restaurants and trips to Disney World;

(32) DWIGHT YORX and other members of the enterprise, earmned income for the
enterprise through three financial operations: the Holy Tabcmacl.e Stores, the Holy Tabemac]e -

- Ministries and the Ancient Mystic Order of the Mechizedek:

(33)  DWIGHT YORK and other-members of the cnterprise, ownéd or permitted
followers to own, and operate franchises of, the Holy Tabernacle Stores: a series of stores locatl_ad
in various U.S. cities that sold Nuwaubian merchandise, inc]uﬂing books written by DWIGHT
YORK and audio and video tapes produced by DWIGHT YORK, tce shirts, ca{idles, in:?,cnse,
lotions and shampoos;

(34)  DWIGHT YORK and other members of the antarpnse operated the HoIg,r
Tabf:rnacle. Mlmstncs which mvolved a mml o;rdcr service, whereby, prospective Nuwaubian |
followers were required to purchase * ‘passporis” created by the enterprise at the cost of Tm;rentjr
five ($25.00} dollars annually;

(35) DWIGHT YORX and other members of the enterprise, through t_hé operation of
the Holy Tabernacle Ministres, sold professional certifications and degrees issued by the
enterprise, including Doctorates nf{Divinity, and rabbi and tinisterial certifications, at an

appruximaté cost of Fifty ($50.00) dollars each;



(36) DWIGIT YORK and other members of the enterprise, operated the Ancient
Mystic Order of the Melchizedek (also called “AMOM™), a religious order qf the enterprise, in '
which approximately 5,000 members were required o pay an annua! membership fee of Twenty-
seven {$27.00) dollars;

37y DWIGHT YORK and other members o.f the mtcrprisc, by operation of the
Ancient Mystic Order of the Melchezedﬂk, sold prayer rugs, religious pamphlets and clothing |

through a mail order service, and eonducted a weekly ceremony of the Order at the Eatonton,

- . .Putnamm County, Georgia, property;

(38) DWIGHT YQR_K and other members of the enterprise, required that followers
assigned to work in the enterprise’s finance office collect income generated by the enterprise
through the ﬂperat_ion of the Holy Tabemacic Stores, the Holy Tabemacle Ministries and thé._

_Ancient Mystic Order of the Mclchizedek;

(39} DWIGHT YORK and other members of the enterprise, directed that rullaweﬁ _

. from the finarice of¥ice deposit monies collected by the enterprise through the operation of the
Holy Tabemac!e Stores, the Holy.'l‘ah.cmaclc Ministries and thie Ancient Mysti'c Onrder of the
Melchizedek, into one of three bank accounts maintained Ey the enterprise in the na.x;nes of the

~“Malachi Z. York d/b/a Holy Tabernacle Siore,” “AMOM/Sisters of Aset,” and a personal
account in the name of “Malachi Z. York,” all at Wachovia Bank located at 1200 Mitchell Bridge
Road in Athens-Clarke County, Georgia, a financial institufion whose deposits were then insured
by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation; |

| (40) DWIGHT YORK and cther members of the enterprise, directed ¢hat faﬂnwe:rs

from the finance office remave dollarbills in denominations less than Fifty ($50.00) dollars

10



from those monies earned by the Holy Tabernacle Stores, the Holy Tabernacle Ministries and the
Ancient Mystic Order of the Melchizedek, and deposit those small bils into one of three bank
accounts maintained by the eﬂtamﬁsa;

(41} DWIGHT YORK and other members of the enterprise, directed that followers -
) ‘from the finance office remave doltar bills in denominations cqual té and greater than Fifty
($50.00) dollars from those monies eamed by the Holy Tabemacle Stores, the Holy Tabermacle
Ministries and the Ancient Mystic Order of the Melchizedek, and deliver those large bills to
DWIGHT YORK for his private use: | |

(42)  DWIGHT YORK and other members of the enterprise, ordered fullowf.:rs fromn
the inance office to convent monies maintained by DWIGHT YORK for his private use intu.
money orders labeled “domnations,” and to deposit those “ﬁunations“ nto ﬁnc of three bank
aceounts mantained by the cnterﬁrise; and B

{43) DWIGHT YORK and other members of_thc; ammpris'c, ordered followers from
the finance office to further conceal li'lﬂ financial activities of the enterprise by structuring cash

transactions to evade currency t_ransactin'n reporting requirements when making banking deposits.

D.© OVERTACTS
In furtherance of the conspiracy, and to effect the objects and purposes of the conspiracy,
DWIGHT YORK along with unindicted co-conspirators and others, both known and unknown

to the Grand Yury, committed various overt acté, including but not limited to, the following:

-

(1)  Inor about January 1988, at property owned by the enterprise in Kings County,

4

New York, memb.e:rs of the ente:pris&facruitad Person-1 (Person hereafter referred to as “P*",

it



for purposes of engaging in unlawfi scxual activity with DWIGHT YORK, at a time when P-1
ﬁ'a.s approximately age 13;

{2) Int or aboul J aLnua:}r 1588, at property owned by the enferprse in Kings County, |
New York, DWIGﬁT YORK, in the presence of adult, femiai; m.f:mi::ers u_f the cnterprise, forced '
P-lto perform oral sex on him at a time when P-1 was a.ppmximfr:ly age 13;

3) In or about 1988, at property owned by the enterpnise in Kings County, New York,
members of the enterprise brought P-17, then approximately age 13, to work in DWIGHT
'YORK’S private residence, along with P- 1, then approximately age 13, and P-13:

{4) In or about 1988, at his private residence located on property owned by the
enterpnise in Kings County, NewYork, DWIGHT YORK showed P-17 pictures of
male genitalia and pomographic video lapes, al a time when P-17 was approximately ape 13;

{5) In or about 1988, at praperty owned by the enterprise in Kings County, Ncw York,
members of the (:nte.rp.rist asked P-17, then approximately a;gc I3, to engage in unlawfunl sexual
activity with DWIGHT YORK as purt of 2 purported African custom;

(6} In or about 1988, al property owned by the enferprise in Kings Cnunty, New York,
. DWIGHT fDRK told P-17, then apprﬁximately age 13, that her sister, P-20, then
approximately age 7, was “cute” and 10 bring P-20 to his house; |

(%) In or about 1988, at property owned by the enterprise in Kings County, New York,
DWIGHT YORK, and members of the enierprise, caused P-1, then appmxﬁnately age 13,.&:-
eagage in anal intercourse with DWIGHT YORK:

| (8} In or about the Sum;ner of 1991, DWIGHT YORK directed that P-1, P-17 and P-

13, move to prﬂpcﬁy purchased by thtt enterprise in Sullivan, County, New York;

12



(9) In or aboutt 1999, at property awned by the enterprise in Sullivan County, New
York, DWIGHT YDﬁK anally molested P-17, who was then apprnxim'atﬂl}r age 15;

(10). Inorabout 1990, in Sullivan County, New York, DWIGHT YORK dire;:tpd
F-17, then approximately age 15, to recruit other young girls fulr his unlawful sexual activity,
-im:,lud'mg p-27, P-6, P-19 and P—Ei, all {:;f whom were approximately age 14 at the time;

(11} Inorabout 1990, in a {railer located on pmpefty owned by the enterprise 1n
Sullivan County, New York, and used by DWIGHT YORK as his private residence, DWIGHT
YORK and. ul.l'lar-memb_er_s of the enterprise, in the presence of P_.L the.ﬁ approximately age 14,
engaged in group sexual activity with P-17 and ¥-13, both of whom were approximately ape 15
at the time;

(i2)  In or about 1991, at property owned by the enterprise in Sullivan County, New
York, DWIGHT YORK, in the presence of P_,l , fondled P-8, who was approximately age 4 at
the timé of the molestation;

. (13) - Id or about 1992, in a trailer located on properly owned by the cnterpﬁse mn
Sullivan County, New York, and used by DWIGHT YORK as his private residence, DWIGHT
YORK, in the pre'sance,‘ofP—l, forced P-38 to perform oral sex on him, at a time whén P-8 was -
approximately age 5; -

- {14)  Inor about 1992, in a trailer located on property owned by the enterprise in
Sullivan County, New York, and used by DWIGHT YORX as his private residence,

DWIGHT YORK engaged in group soxual activity with P20, then approximately age 8, and B-

-
1

8, then approxumately age 3;

13



{15} Inorabout 1997, at properly owned by tﬁa enterprnise in Sullivan County, New
York, DWIGHT YORK forced P-20, then approximately age 8, to perform oral sex on him;

{16)  Inorabout 1992, in a trailer located on ﬁrupm‘t)r owned by the enterprise in
Sullivan County, New York, and used by DWIGHT Y(‘JRK as his private residence, DWIGHT
1YGRK a.nd P-13, engaped in sexual actrvity with P-17 and P-20"s brother, P-21 and was
approximately age 7 at the time of the molestation;

[i?} In or about 1992, at propcrﬁr owned by the enterprise in Sullivan CGUI.‘.lt}", New -
York;, DWIGHT YORK. gave P23, then. approximately age 13, 5 golcf bracelet and invited the
gjrl to his private residence to watch television;

(18)  Inoraboul 1993, at property owned by the enterprise in ?ulli'fan County, Ncw
York, DWIGHT YORK, in the presence of P L, fondled P-12, who was appmxlmateiy age 4 at
the time of the molestation: |

{19} In or about January 1993, DWIGHT YORK and other members of the enterprise,
purchased approximately 444 acres of land Iocai.ﬁd af 404 Shady Dale Road ig Eatonton, Putham
County, Georgia, for the purpose of réIocaLing_-mc enterprise from Sullivan County, New York; |

(29} In or about February 1993, DWIGHT YORX directed Kathy Tohnson and P ito
travel from Suilw:-m County, New York, to the cnterprise’s new location in Putnam Cuunty
(reorgia; _

(21) " In or about February 1993, DWIGHT YORK chracted P-1 to create a list of his
followers residing in Sullivan County, New York, sncluding their respective ages, from which he _

-

selected those individuals whom he desired to relocate to the mtarpnsn: § new lnc.atmn in Putnam

County, Georgia, -

14



(22) Inor ahnut- February 1993, DWIGHT YORK, and other members of the

citerprise known and unknown to the Grand Jury, transported and caused to be transporied, P- 1.2,
a Iminor at the time, from Sullivan County, New Yo.rk, to Putnam County, Georgia, for the
purpose of continuing to engage with DWIGHT YORK in unlawfyl sexual activity;

(23)  Tnor about April 1993, DWICHT YORK directed Kathy Johnson and P-1to
arrange for the transport of cerlain of hq's followers from Sullivan County, New York, to the
entﬂrpri.se‘s new location in Putnam Coupty, Georgia;

- (24) o or abont April 1992, DWIGHT -YGRE and other members of tfm enterprise,
directed that tninors, with whom DWIGHT YORK and other members of the enterprise were
engaged In undaw il sexual activity, move to Putnam County, Geortgia, with the first groups of
Nuwaubjan fol]nwcrs to relocale to Putnam County, (Georgia;

(25)  Inor about April 1993, DWIGHT YORX, and other members of the enterprise -
known and unknown to the.Crand Jury, caused P-23, a minmf ;11 the time, to be Uaﬁ@nﬂad from
Kings County, New York, to Bibb County, Georgia, for ﬁc purpose of continuing to tngage with
DWIGHT YORK in unlawfiul sexual achivity;

(26) In.c-r about Aprill 993_, DWIGHT YORK, and other members of the enterprise’
knowx and unknown to the Grand Jury, caused P-8, P-20and P-21. all minogs af the time, to be
tranSportt:c_i from Sullivan County, New York, to Putnam County, Georgia, for the purpose of
© continuing to engage with DWIGHT YORK in unlawful sexual activity, |

{27) Between in or about Apnil 1993, through in or about September 2000,

' D\’L’IGHT YORK dirzcted P-9 to refuse to minplete Currency Transaction Reports

(CTRs) when making cash deposits into bank accounts maintained by the enterprise;

15



(28)  Between in or about April 1993, through in or about September 2000, DWIGHT
YORK told P-9 to refuse to complete Currency Transaction Reports {CTRs) when making cash
deposits inte bank accounts maintained by the enterprise, in ordér to prevent the Inilemmal
Revenue Service from questioning the activities of the enterprise;

(29)  On August 2, 1993, P-1 at age 17, bore a son fathered by DWIGHT YORIK:

{30)  Tnor about 1993, :.1t his private residence in Pumﬂm County, Georgia, bWIGHT
YORK, in the presence of P-1_ forced P20, then appmximatﬁy age 9, to perform r_-rra; SEX on
- him; -

{31) Inor about 1993, at his proivate residence in Putnam Clounty, Georgia, DWIGHT
YDRI_{ anally molested P-20, then approximately age 10;

(32) In or about 1993, at his private IESIdBIICE: in Putnarn County, Georgia, D‘WIGHT
YORK, in the presence of P- I mscrtcd his penis into the mouth of P-8’s brother, P-5, who was
then approximately age 13;

(33)  Inorabout 1993, in Putnam County, Greorgia, DWIGHT YORK directed P-5,
then approximatety age 13, to bring P—Ei,_ then appmximgtely age B, to hum (DWIGHT YORK):

(34) Inorabout 1993, at his private residence in Putnam County, Georgia, DWIGHT
YORK and Kathy Johnson engaged in sexual activity, includin;g oral sex, with P-5, then
approximately age 13, and P-21, then approximately age 2; |

(35)  Inor aboui November 1593 at DWIGHT YORK'S direction, P-1 approached p-
23 Putnam County, Georgia, and tc-ld P-23 that DWIGHT YORK mshcd to have sex with

ht:r as part of a purported custom 11 Sudmm, A[nca, at a time when P-23 was approximately age

-

14;
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{(36) Inorabout ﬂnvsmber 1993, DWIGHT YORX took P-23 to dinner and bought P-
23 new clothes and 2 nng;

{37y  On or about November 20, 1993 DWIGHT YORK, at his private residence in |
Putnam County, Geotgia, forced P-23 and P-25, both approximately age 14 at the time, to engage
-1Dgﬂﬂ'lf:r with hum in oral and vaginai sex;

(38) Inor #baut November 1993, at his private residence in Pufnam Cuunty, G.cor'gia,_ -
DWIGHT YORK engaged in-anal sex with P-23, then apprﬁximatsly age 14:

- (39)  Inorabout November 1993 at the private residence of DWIGHT YORIC in
Putnam County, Georpia, Kathy johnson performed o;a] sex on and insr:rter:i her fingers i._nln the
vagina of P-23, then approximately age 14:

(40)  Inor about 1994, at his private residence in Putnam County, Georgia, DWIGHT
YORK dﬁcctad P-19 to perform oral sex on P-5, who was theq approximately
. age 14;

(41) Inor about 1994, at his privale residence in Pﬁmam County, Georgla, DWIGHT
YORK, in the presence of P-21, then approximately age 9, furccd .P-iz, then approximately age
3, to perfonn oral sex on DWIGHT YORK;

(42}  Inor about 1995, at his private residence in Putnam County, Gmrgig, DWIGHT
YORK, along with Kathy }ohnson, P-13 and P-19, engaged in sexual activity with P-20, then |
approximately age I |, in groups with other minors, including P-7, P-8, p-] I, P-14, P-26 and
P-23; | |

(43} Inor abuut.lE'E‘JG, DWIGHT YORK dirscted f—lﬁ to bring P-15, then

approximately age 10, to his private résidence in Putnam County, (eorgia to clean;
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(44)  In or about 1996, while cleaning at DWIGHT YORK’S private residence in
Futnam County, Georgia, P-26, Ihﬂl;t approximately age 12,. mltuméad P'-15, then approximately
age 10, to touch DWIGHT YORK'S DEnis;

(43) In or about 1996, at his private residence in Putnam County, Georgia DWIGHT
-YURK, with the parficipation of Kathy Johnson aud_iﬁ the p.rcsam:e of P-13, then ap.pmximatel'y
age 11, forced P-8, tl_lt;_‘.n approximately age 10, to perform oral sex on him;

(46)  In or about 1996, at his private residence in Putnam County, Gﬁﬂl'glﬂ._. DWIGHT
- YOR}(, with the participation of Kathy Ishnson. vaginally and :JnaIl}f molested P-15 wha was
then 'appmximate_ly age 11;

(47)  Inorabout 1996, DWIGHT YORK traveled fmﬁi Putnam County, Georgia, 1o |
Orange County, Florida, to engage in unlawful s.exua] activity with P—Z{]. P-i4 and P.24;

{(48)  Inor about 1996, DWIGHT YORK and other members nf the enterprise,
traDSpm'lﬂd P- 2{] P-14 and P-26 from Putnam County, Georgia, to Drange County, Florida, to
engage with DWIGHT YORK in, unlawful sexual activity;

(4%)  Inor about 1995, DWIGHT YORK, while-at a hotel in. Disne}f. Wnrld located in
Orange Cnunt}' Flornida, with minors P- 20 and P-14, furccd P-26, t.hr:n a runor and in the
presence of P-20, to perform oral sex on hirm;

(50) Inorabout 1996, DWIGHT YORK, while at 2 hote] in Disney World located in
Orange County, Florida, with minors P-20 and P-26, forced P-14, then & mnor, to sleep with him

in his bedroom:

18



(51)  Inorabout 1998, at DWIGHT YORK’S recording studio located in Putnam
County, Georpgia, D.WIGHT YDRK told P-5's brother, P-16, then approximately age 14, tg
touch DWIGHT YORK'S peuis:

(52) Inorabout 1998, at his private residence in Pumam County, Georgia, DWIGHT
YDRI{, in the presence of P-16, then approximately age 14, fnrced P-12, then approximately age
3, to perforin oral sex on DWIGHT YORK; |

{33)  In or about 1998, In Pﬁtnam County, Georgia, DWIGHT YORK requested that
--..-_P-—23-T-;ister, P24, bom en ﬂ-ugust&l-'lgﬂlww-atch«tclevisinﬂ at his residence, after which he
forced P-i4, theﬁ approximately age 16, to watch him engage it vaginal intercourse with P-1;

{54)  In or about 1998 at his private residence in Putnarm County, Georgia, DWIGHT
YORK engaged in unfawful sexua activity with P-24, then appm:ﬁimatcl}f age 16, in groups with
P-20 and P-10, both of whuﬁ were also minors at the time;

(55)  Inor around 1998, DWIGHT YORK opened three bank accounts in the names af
the “Malachi Z. York d/b/a Holy TaEema::Ic Store,”: account mumber 13111201, “AMOM/Sister
of Aset,” account number 13111333 , and a personal a@mt in the name of “Malachi 7. York,”
al} at Wachovia Bank localad at 1200 Mitchell Bridge Road in Athens-Clarke Cnunty Gmrga, a
financial i mstltutmn whose deposits were then insured by the Federal Depns:t Insurance
Corporation;

(56)  Inorabout 1999, at the prcrpert)r located in Athens-Clarke Cuunty, (reorgia,
DWIGHT YORK forced P-20, then appmxlmatt:ly age 13, to engage in sexual activity with

DWIGHT YORK in groups with other mi.m:lrs, including P-4, P-2 and P-3, P-10 and P-IS;

-
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(57}  In of around 1998, DWIGH’I‘ YORK directed P-1 to refuse to
complete Currency Transaction Reports (CTRs) witen making cash deposits into bank
accounts maintained by the enterprise;
(58) In I:;r about 1999, at his phivate rcsidf:r_mc 1m Pumam County, Georgia, DWIGHT
-YDRK, in the presence of P-8, forced P_16’s sister, P-4, then approximately agc 12, to touch his
penis;

(59) Inorabout 1999, DWIGHT YORK and other members of the enterpnse, .

++ .-.purchased an approximately.10,000 square foot residence in Athens-Clarke County, Georgia, .

located at 155 Mansfield Court, where DWIGHT YORK maoved the financial office of the
enterprise; |

(60}  On September 29, 1999, P-1 wrote 2 Wachovia Bank deposit slip for cash
pmc.eads for Holy Tabernacie Store, accuunt mumber 13111201, in the amount of $7,562.00, for
purposes of evading currency transaction reporting requirements;

(61} .On Septemhx;:r 29, 1999, a member of the {:ntérprisa deposited into account
number 1311 lzﬂl-at War_;hnvia Bank, cash praceeds from Haly Tabf:i‘naclc Stdre, 18 the amount
of $7,562.00, for purposes of evading currency transaction reporting requirements;

| (62)  On September 30, 1999, P—.l wrate a Wachuvia Bank deposit slip for cash
proceeds for Holy Tabernacle Store, account number 131 11201, in the amount of $110.00, for
purposes of evading currency transaction reporting requirements:

(63)  On September 30, 1999, a member of the eptarprise deposited into account
nunber 13111201 at Wachovia Baui cash proceeds from Holy Tabemacle Store, in the amount

0f $110.00, for purposes of evading currency transaction reporting requirements;
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(64)  On September 30, 1999, P-1 wrote a Wa:}hﬂﬁa Bank deposit slip for cash
proceeds for Holy Tabemacle Store, account number 131 11201, 1n the amount of $8,300.00, for
purposes of evading ;:urrcnc}f ﬁansaction reporting rcquifﬂmcnts;

(63}  On September 30, 1999, a metinber of the enterprise deposited into account
number 13111201 at Wachovia Bank. cash proceeds from Holy Tabernacle Store, in the amount
of $8,300.00, for purposes of evading currency transaction repoiting requirements:

{68) Dn Dctﬁber 6, 1999, P-1 wrote a Wachovia Bank deposit slip for cash proceeds

-for Holy Tabemacle Store, account number 131 li_EDIJ in.the amount of 34,833 o), for purposes
of evading currency transaction repotting requirﬁmuntS'

(15?) Cn Gcmbf:r 6, 1999, a member of the enterprise deposited inte account number
13111261 at Wachuwa Bank, cash proceeds from Holy Tabemacle Store, in the amount of
$4,833.00, for p_urposr:s of evading currency transaction reporting requirements; -

(68)  On October 8, 1999, P-] wrote 2 Wachovia Bank deposit slip for cash. proceeds
for Holy 'I‘ahcm_;_aclc Store, accoﬁnt number 13111201, in '[h.ﬂ atnount of 34,000.00, for purposes
of evading currency uﬁmaction TEpOTHNg requirements;

{69‘;| On October 8, 1999, 3 member of the eﬁtcrpn’sa deposited into account number
13111201 at Wachovia Barnk, cash pmce-ed;s from Holy Tabemacle Store, in the amount of
3$4,000.00, for purposes of evading ::umﬁncy transaction reporting requiremnents;

(70)  On October 8, 1999, P-| wrote a Wachc:-via.Ba..nlc deposit slip for cash proceeds
for Holy Tabernacie Store, account number 13111201, in the ammmt. 0f$2,2803.00, for purposes

-

of évading curtency transaction teporting requirements;
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(71y  On October 8, 1999, a member of the enterprise deposited into account number
13111201 at Wachovia Bank, cash proceeds from Hon,r ‘Tabemacle Store, in the amount of
32,803.00, for purposes of evading currency transaction reporting requirernents;

{72y Inor arc-uu;;i January 2000, DWIGHT YORK threatened to kall P-20 and P.g;

(73)  On April 5, 2000, P-1 wrote a Wachovia Bank dﬂﬁnsit ship for cash proceeds for
Holy Tabemacle Stare, account number 13111201, in the amount of F8,876.00, for purposes of
evading currency transaction repo ﬁin g requirements;

oo 474Y ..On April 5,2000, 2 member of thcJent::rprisr:.depﬂsited.imm acaount.nurﬁbef'
13111201 at Wachovia Bank, cash proceeds fram Holy Tabemacle Store, in.the amount éf
$8,876.00, for purposes of evadmg currency fransaction reporting requirements:

(75}  On April 11, ZGQEI, P-1 wrote 2 Wachovia E&ﬂc deposit slip for cash proceeds for
Hdly Tabemacle Store, accaun;number 13111201, in the amauﬁt of $7,805.00, for purposes of
 evading currency transaction reporting requirements;

{76) 01_1 Apnl 11, 2000, a member of the enterprise dtpﬂsitﬂd iInko account number
131112901 at Wachovia Bank, cash proceeds from Holy Tabemacie Stare, in the amount of
$7,805.00, for purposes of evading currency transzction reporting requirements:

(77)  in or about Novtmbcr 2000, DWIGHT YORK told P-15 that he believed P-20
wrole a letter to the Sheriff of Eatonton, Georgia, and that he (Y ORK) knew someone in the state
of Virginia that conid be hired to kitl P-20);

() I Gr.ahﬂut February 2001, DWIGHT YORK hit, kicked and threatened o have

P-1 killed after P-1 asked 1o leave the property in Putnam County, Georgia; '_

-
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(79)  On Apnl 23, 2002, DWIGHT YORK drove ta an “O’'Charley’s” restaurant in -
Covingten, Georgia, with zﬁimrs P-4, P-2 and P-3, P-18 and P-26, all of whom were then minc-.n.;
that DWIGHT YORK was engaging in unlawful sexual activity: and

(80) On Aﬁril 24, 2003, DWIGHT YORK told P-27 that followers cooperating with a

--:.:r'iminal invcstigaﬁnu being mnductﬁ_d by the Shenff of Putnam County, Georgia, needed to be

“taken care of.”

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1962(d).

COUNT TWO

A. THE RACKETEERING VIOLATION

1 Paragraphs C and D of CDUﬂT ONE of t.his Sﬁpﬁmediﬂg Indictment are re-alleged-and
incorporated by reference herein. |

2. From in or about January 1988, and -.::unt.inuing through on or about May 3, 2002,

in the Middie District of Georgia, and elsewhere within the jurisdiction of this Court, the

- Defendant,

DWIGHT D. YORI, a/lc/a DR. MALACHI Z. YORK, a/k/a
ISA MUHAMMAD, a/k/a ISA AL HAADI AL MAHDI aod alk/a“BABA”
(bereinafter referred to as “DWIGHT YORK™
and others known and unknown tc:- the Grand Jury, being persons employad by and assoc.iated
with the Nuwaubians described above, which was an enterprise engaged in, and the activities ol
which affected, interstate commerce, unfawfully and knawingly conducted and participatad,

directly and indirectly, in the conduct of the affairs of the enterprise through a pattern of

racketeering activity, that is, through the commission of the following Racketeering Acts, as sel

-

forth in Paragraph B below.
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B.  THE PATTERN QF RACKETEERING ACTIVITY
The pattern of racketeering activity as defined in Title 18, United States Code, Sectiong
1961{1) and 1961(5), consisted of the following acts:

L. Racketeering Act One— _ _ _
Transporting Minors in Intersiate Commerce for Unlawful Sexval Activity

In or aboul February 1993, in the;'Middle Dustrict of Georgia, and eisewhere within the

jurisdiction of this Court, the Defendant,
DWIGHT YORK

and Dthcrs lcnuwn and unlc_r-own fo the Granri J ury knnwmgl}f tral_ns';p(:.-;tﬂd and caused to i}e..
fransported P-12, an individual who had not attained the age of cighteen years, in mterstaia
commerce from Sullivan County, New York, to Pumam County, Geurgm, with the intent that
such m.inur continue to f::%gagt: In unlawiul sexual activity for which a person can be chargod
with a eriminal oflense, including, but net llrmted lo, violations of Georgia Code Sections 16-6-4
and 16-6-3, the individual not having yet reached the age of twenty-five years in accordance with
Title 18, Unita-li' States Code, Section 3283, all in violati_un of 'i‘itlc 18, United States Code,
Sections 2423(a) and 2. |

2. " Racketeering Act Two— _
Transportiug Minors in Toterstate Commeérce for Unlawful Sexual Activity

Int or about April 1993, in the Middle District of Georgia, and elsewhere within the

Jurisdiction of this Court, the Defendant,
- DWIGHT YORK

and others known and unknowa (o the Grand Tury, knowingly transported and caused to be

transported P-8, P-20 and P-21, individuals who had not attained the age of eighteen years, in
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interstate mmmew:e from Sullivan County, New York, to Putnam County, Georgia, with the
intent that such minors If:ngage in unlawﬁil sexual achvity for which a person can be charged with
a criminai offense, including, but not limited to, vic-lat:ic-ﬁs of Georgia Code Sections 16-6-4 and
16-6-5, the inctivi-:iua.ls not having };fct reached the age of twenty-five years in accordance with

Title 18, United States Code, Section 3283, all in violation of Title 18, United States Code,

Sections 2423(a) and 2.

3. Racketeering Act Three—
Transporting Mivors in Interstate Commerce for Unlawful Sexual Activity

In.or about April 1993, in the Middle District of Georgia, and elsewhers within the

Jjurisdicticn of this Cuurt,. the Defendant,
DWIGHT YORK

and others known and utknown to the Grand Jury, knowingly transported and caused to be
transported P-23, an individual wha had not attain-ed the age of eighteen years, in interstate
commerce from Kings County, New Yotk, to Bibb Cm'i._nty, Gml'g'lﬂ., and Putnam County,
Gmrgla with the: mtent that such minor cngage in unlawﬁ.li sexual activity for which a person -
can be charged with a criminal offense, including, but not Iirnited to, viu[aticms of Georgia Code
Sections 16-6-4 and 16-6-5, the individuals not having yet reached the age of nven-ty—ﬁafa years in
accordance with Title 18, United Siates Cade, Section 3283, ali in violation af Title 18, Unite.-:.i.
States Code, Sections 2423(a) and 2.
4, Racketeering Act Four— -

Transgnrﬁug Minors in Interstate Commerce for Unlawful Sexual Activity

-

In or about 1996, in the Middle District of Georgia, and elsewhere within the jurisdiction

of this Court, the Defendant, -
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DWIGHT. YORK
and others known and unknown to the {rand Jury; knowingly transported and caused to be
transported P-20, P-14 and P-26, all mdividuals who had not attained the age of eighteen years,
in mterstatc commerce from Patnamn County, Geurg131 to Drange County, Floridz, with the 1ntent
-that such minors engape in unlawﬁil sexual activity for which a person can be n:hargf:d with a
criminal offense, including, but not limited to, violations of Georgia Code Sections 16-6-4 and
16-G-5, the individuals not having ;-,r'(:t reached the age of twenty-five Years in accordance with
Title 18 United States Code, Section 3283 all in violation of Title 18, United States Code,
Sectmns 2423(3} and 2. | |

5. Racketeering Act Five-

structuring Cash Transaction to Evade Currency Transactions Regortmg
Requirements

Betwecn on or about September 29, 1999 and on or about September 30, 1999, in the

Middle District of Georgia, the Defendant,

| | DWIGHT YORK
aided and abetted by others known and unknown to the G;and Jury, knowingly and willfully, and
for the purpose of evading reporting requirements of Title 31, United States _Cnd{:; Section
3313(a}, and the regulations promulgated therein, assisted in structuring a financial transaction
with a domestie financial institﬁtion, by directing others known and u.nknm'm to the Grand jury,
to .nnl:-,r deposit United States currency in an amnuﬁt less than $10,000.00; to wit:. by causing
$7,562.00 1n United States currency e be deposited into an account for the Hely Tabemacle

Store, account number 13111201, on or about September 29, 1999, by causing $110.00 in United

States currency to be depasited into an account for the Holy Tabemacle Store, account number
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13111201, on or about Septembes 30, 1999, and by causing $8,300.00 in United States currency
to be dﬂpn.:}sitﬂd into an account for the Holy Tabernacle Store, account number 311 1201, on or
about September 30, 1999, al| at Wachovia Bank located at 1200 Mutchell Bridge Road in
Athens-Clarke tounw, Geurg;a, a financial institution whose deposits were then insured by the
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, in violation of Title 31, United States Code, Smimn
5324{a)3), in connection with Title 31, United Stateg Code, Section 5313(a), and Title 18,
United States Code, Section 2.

6. . .Racketeering. Act Six— " . . - .- : e
Stracturing Cash Transaction to Evade Currency Trensactions Reporting

Requirements

Between on or about October 6, 1999 angd on or about October &, 1999, i the Middle

District of Georgia, the Defendant,
DWIGHT YORK

aided and abetted by utl;n:rs known and unkmown to the Grand J ur},r, lmnwmgly and wllIfuIly and
for the purpose of f:v:admg reporting requirements {}f thle 31, United States Code, Sectiun
3313(a), and the regulations promulgated Lhe.rein, assisted . in structuring a financial transaction
with a dornestie ﬁuancial institution, by directing others known and unknown to the Grand Jury,
to only dcpns:t United States CULTENCY [n an amount less than $10 ,000.00; to wit: by causmg
$4,833.00 in United States currency to be df:posnlcd into an account for the Hul}f Tabernacle
Store, account aumber 1311 1201, on or about October 6, 1999, by causing $4,000.00 in United
States currency to hﬂ_ deposited into an account for the Holy Tabemacle Store, account number
1_31'1 1201, on or about Octobey 8, 19;9, and by causing $2,803.00 in United.Stat!:s currenéy o

be deposited into an arcount for the Holy Tabemacle Store, account surmber 1311 1201, onor

27



about October 8, 1999, all at Wachovia Bank located at 1200 Mitchell Rridge Road in Athens-
Clarice County, Georgia, a financial mstitution whose deposits were then insured by the Federai
Deposit Insurance Corporation, in viclation of Title 31, United States Cede, Section 3324(a)(3),
in connection with Title 31, United States Code, Section 5313(a), and Title 18, United Siates
-Cﬂdf.. Section 2.

1. Racketeering Act Seven— _
Structuring Cash Transaction to Evade Cy reency Transactions Reporting

Requirements

Between.on or about Apnil 5, 2000 and on or about April i, iﬂﬂﬂ, n the Middie District

ﬁf Ge.org:ia,.thc Dafendant., . | - |
DWIGHT YORK

aided and abetted by others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, I':nm'-'in;gly and willfully, and _
for the purpose of evading reporting requiretaents of Title 31, United States Code, Sectiou_
5313(a), and the regulatioﬁs_ promulgated thereln, assisted in strocturing a financial transaction
with a ﬁom&stiq_ﬁnancial Institution, by directing others known and unknown to the Grand Jury,
1o ouly deposit United States CUTENcy in an amount less than $10.000.00; to wit: by causing
$8,876.00 in United States c.urrmcy to be depn;it&d into an account for the Holy Tabernacle
Store, account aumber 137 11201, on or about Apnl 5, 2000, and by causing $7,805.00 in Un_itc.d
States currency to be deposited into an account for the Holy Tabernacle Store, account number
13111204, on or about April 11, 2000, all at Wachovia Bank located at 1200 Mitche,ll Bridge
Road in Athens-Clarke County, Georgia a fméncial institution whose deposits were theq insured

-

by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, in viclation of Title 31 , United States Code,

ol
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Section 5324(a¥3), in connection with Title 31, United States Code, Section 53 13{a}, and Tiie

18, United States Code, Section 3.

All in viaiation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1362(c} and 2.

COUNT THREK

_(Cunspiracy to Transport Minors ig Interstate Commerce for Unlawfi Sexual Activity and

Conspirzcy to Commit Structuring of Cask Transactions)
1. COUNTS ONE and TWO of this Superseding Indictment, are r&allégt:d and
incorporated by reference heren.
2 o Fmrn i-n_.(;.rﬂ.'.al;.nut .T;muaﬂj i?B%ﬁ‘, andculjltmum E Ercué;fl”h{ay 3, E{iﬂé,- n t&e .I'v'.[.al.:.:l:]n.
Division of the Middle Distric_t- of G;:nrgia, and elsewhere within the jurisdiction of this Court,

the Defendant,

DWIGHT D. YORK, a/k/a DR. MALACHI Z, YORK, a/l/a _
154 MUHAMMAD, a/l/a ISA AL HAADI AL MAHDI ang ak/a “BABA »

knowingly and willfully conspired with unindicted co-conspirators and others, both known and
ueknown to the Grand Jury, to commit certain offenses against the United States 1n violation of

Title 18, United States Code, Section 371, namely:

(A}  transporting rninors in interstate commerce far purposes of engaging in uniawfig]

including, but not limited 10, violations of Georgia Code Sections 16-6-4 and 16-6-5, the

-
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individuals not having yet reached the age of twenty-five years in accordance with Title 18,
United States Code, Section 3283
| (B) tavelingin int&statc commerce for the pugpose of engaging in unlawfil sexuaj
activity with minors, whic;h is indictable under Title 18, United States Code, Section 2423(h),
-and which is defined as hﬁwing{y ﬁvﬁ]ing in interstate commerce for the purpose of engaging
in an unlawful sexual act as defined iﬁ Title 18, United States Code, Section 2246(2), with a
person under the age of eighfeen, and under such circumstances as would constitute a vialation of
T i:tle. 18, United States Code, Smtinﬁ 2243¢a), had the sexual acts ecourred in the special |
maritirn;: anci té.n.-itu.fi.a] i uri&;.dicti:).n of .the. Umtﬁd S.t;tf:s, the person not h.aving yet
reached the age of tWGIlt}"“ﬁ‘.'n’ﬁ ¥ears in accordance with Title 13, United States Code, Section
.3233; and
(C)  structuring cash transactions to evade currency transactions reporting,
requirements, which is chargeable under Title 3 1, United States Code, Section 5324{3)(3}, and
which ig deﬁnm_i as knowingly and willfully, and for the purpose of evadimg re:puﬁing
requirermnents of Title 3 1, United States Code, Section 3313(a), and the rcgu]ation_s promulgated
therein, assisting in shucmﬁng a financial transaction with a domestic financial institution,
whose deposits were then insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, by making
muitipte depusits. of United States currency in amounts less than $10,000.00, in violation of Titie'
31, United States Code, Section 5324{a¥3), in connection with Title 31, United States Code,

Section $313(2), and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.

-
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COUNT FOUR
(Transporting Minors in Interstate Commerce for Unlawful Sexual Activity)

1. Paragraph A of COUNT ONE of this Superseding Indictment is re-alleged and
incorporated by reference herein,

2. In or about February 1993, in the Middle Distnct of Georgia, and elsewhere ‘within the

Jurisdiction of this Court, the Defendant,

DWIGHT D. YORK, a/k/ DR. MALACHI Z. YORK, a/l/a
ISA MUHAMMAD, a/k/a ISA AL HAADY AL MAHDT and a/i/x “BABA,”

and others lmown and unknown to the Grand Jury, knewingly transporfed 2nd caused tobe
tmnspoﬂeﬁ P-12, z;n'individa.t.al wﬂo had not attained tHe ape af eighteeﬁ ¥ears, in interstate
commerce from Sullivan (County, New York, fo Putnam County, Georgia, with the intent that
such minor engage in_unlawﬁﬂ. sexual activity for which a PETSOn can b.e chargeéd with & cn‘}nmm
offense, inclnding, but not limited to, viu]ati{m;,s af Gcnrgia Code Sections 16-6-4 and 16-6-5, the
individl_lals nat having yet reached the age af hf.rn:nt}r—ﬁve years in accordance with

Title 18, United States Code, Section 3283, all in violation of TiFl?: 18, United States Code,

Sections 2423(a) ang 2.

COUNT FIVE : o
(Transporting Minors in Interstate Commerce for Unlawful Sexual Activity}

1. Paragtaph A of COUNT DNE of this Superseding Indictment is re-alleged and
incorporated by reference herein.

2. In or about April 1993, in the Middie District of Georgia, and elsewhere within the
Jurisdictien of this Court, the Defendant,

DWIGHT D. YORK, afk/a DR. MALACHI Z. YORK, a/l/a
ISA MUHAMMAD, a/kfa ISA AL HAADI AL MAHDI and a/k/a “BABA,”
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and others known and unknown to the Grand Jury kmowingly transported and caused to be
transported P-8, P-20 and P-21, all individuals who had not attajned the age of eighteen years, in
interstate commerce from Sultivan County, New Yark, to Putnam County, Geargia, with the

mtent thal such minors engage m unlawiul sexual activity for which a person can be charged with

‘a criminal offense, including, but nat Limited to, violations of Georgia Code Sections 16-6-4 and

16-6-5, the individuals not having yel reached the age of twenty-five years in accordance with
Title 18, United States Code, Section 3283, all in violation of Title 18, United States Code,
Sections 2423(a} and 2. . .. .

COUNT SIX
(Transporting Miners in Intersiate Commerce for Unlawful Sexual Activity)

I Paragraph A of COUNT .DNE of this Superseding Indictment is re-alleged and
incurpﬁratﬁd by reference herein. |

2, In or about April 1993, in the Middle Distﬁct of Georgla, and elsewhere within the
Junisdiction of this Court, the Def&]dant,

'DWIGHT D. YORK, a/k/a DR, MALACHI 7. YORK, a/k/a
ISA MUHAMMAD, a/k/a ISA AL HAADI AL MAHDI and a/k/a “BABA,»

and gthers knuwn and. unknown to the Grand Jury knowingly transported and caused ta be
transported P-23, an individual who had not attained the age of eighteen years, in interstate
commerce from Kings County, New York, to Bibb Cnuﬁty, Georgia, and Putnam County,
Georgia, with the intent that such minor engage in unlawful sexual activity for which a person
can be charged with 2 criminal offense, including, but not limited to, viclations of Georgia Code

Sections 16-6-4 and 16-6-5, the individuals not having yet reached the age of twently-five years in
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accordance with Title 18, United States Code, Section 3283, all in vialation of Title 18, United

States Code, Sections 2423(a) and 2.

: COUNT SEVEN
(’I‘ravcl’mg in Ipterstaie Cummcrce fo Engage in Unlawiul Sexual Activity with Minors)

L. Paragraph A of CDUNT DNE of thus Supersedmg Indiciment is re-alleged and
incorporated by rsﬁ:rcnce herein.
2. In or ahout 1996, in the Middle District of (eorgia and elsewhere within the Junsdiction

- of this Court, the Defendant- .

DWIGHT D. YORK, a/k/a DR, MALACHI 7. YORK, afl/a
ISA MUHAMMAD, afit/a ISA AL HAADI AL MAHDY and a/k/a “BADA,”

knowingly traveled in interstate cormnmerce, from Putnam County, Georgia, to Orange County,
Flonida, for the purpﬂsa of engagmg in an unlawfui sexuzl act as defined in Title 1€, United
States Code, Section 2245{2] wn‘h aperson umier the age of mghtfxn and und::r such
circumnstances as would constitute a vielation of Title 18 United States Codc_, Section 2243(a),
had the snxuall acls occurred 1n the special mantime and territorial Jurisdiction of the United
States, the pa-r'suﬁ not having yet reached the age of hx.rcnt'y—ﬁ#rc years in accordance with Tifle
18, United Statcs Code, Section 3283, all in violation of Title 18, United States CI:;dr:, Sections

2423(D).

COUNT EIGHT
(T'ransporting Minors in Interstate Commerce for Unlawful Sexual Activity)

1. Paragraph A of COUNT ONE of this Superseding Indictment is re-alleged and

-

in;:‘.orpumt&d by reference herein
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2. In ar about 1996, in the Middle District of Georgia, and elsewhere within the jurisdiction
of this Court, the Defendant,

DWIGHT D. YORK, a/k/a DR. MALACHI 7. YORK, a/kfa
ISA MUHAMMAD, a/k/a JSA AL HAADI AL MAXDI and a/k/a “BABA,”

.and others known and unknown to the Grand J ury, knowingly transported and caused to be
transported P-20, P-14 and P-26, all individuals who had not attained the age of eighteen years,
in interstate mnﬁnsrcﬂ from Pumam County, Georgia, to Dranéc County, Florida, with the intent
that such NUNOTS engage in unlawful.scxua] acltivity for which a petsen can be charged .with a
crimiﬁal foﬁnsn,. inclucl.ir.lg,_l:r-ul. nﬁt-limite;j to, violal.ic.:.ns of Georgia C.c.:.de Sections 16-6-4 and

- 16-6-5, thé tndividuals not Ihaving. yet reached the age of twenty-five vears in accordance with
Title 18, United States Codc, Section.3283, all in violation of Title 18, United S_tate.s Cc:.dc,.
Sections 2423{a) and 2.

COUNT NINE _
(Structuring Cash Transaction to Evade Currency Transactions Reporting Requirements)

1 Paragraph A of COUNT ONE of this Superseding indjcimént is re-alleged and
incorporated by reference herein

2. Between on or about September 29, 1?99 and on or about September 30, 1999, in t_he;
Middle District of Georgia, the Defendant,

DWIGHT D. YORK, a/k/a DR. MALACIII Z. YORK, afkfa
ISA MUHAMMAD, a/k/a ISA AL HAADI AL MAHDI[ and a/kfa “BABA,”

aided and abetted by others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, knowingly and willfully, and
for the purpose of evading reporting requirements of Title 31, United States Code, Section
5313(2), and the régu\atirms promulgated therein, assisted in structuring a financial transaction

with a domestic financial institation, by directing others known and unknown to the Grand Jury,
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forfeitable pmpe@ of DWIGHT YORK or asscts-of equal value, up to the value of the above
forfeitable property.

All pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 1963,

COUNT THIRTEEN
(Untawful Transport of Minors Forfeiture Allegation) _

1. The allegations contained in COUNTS ONE through ELEVEN of this Indictment are
hereby re-alieged and incorporated by reference into this Count for the purpose of alleging
forfeiture to the United States of Amenica, pusuang to the provision af Title 18, United States |
Co&e, Section 2253(a)(3) .

2. As aresult of the commission of the aforesaid violations of Title 18, Utiited States
Code, Sections 2423(a) and 2423(b), the defendant, DWIGHT YDBI(;-shall forfeit i the

United States all of his interest in any and all property, real or personal, used and intended to he - .

. used in any manner or part o commit and to Facilitate the commission of the aforesaid viclations,

but not limited 1o the following:

REAL, PROPERTY
(1} Al that tract or parcel of land cﬁmisting of 444 Acrcs, mc-re. or less,
commonly known as 404 Shady Dale Road, Eatonton, Putnam County, Georgia,
and any and all appurteuan;::es and improvements thercon, more particularly described as
follows:
Tract A: All that certain tract or parcel of fand in Land Lot 231 , 300
G.M.D., Putnam County, Georgia, containing 176.13 acres and being more fully

shown and descnbed on a plat.of same made by Edwin L. Thorpson dated May
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4, 1985, of record in Plat Book 12, Page 188, records of the Clerk of Superior
Cour of Putnam County, Georgia, which ];-lat 15 incorporated by reference herein
in aid of this description. This is the same property desenibed as “Traci Five” i
that certaim Executor’s Dieed of r@rd in Deed Book 5-C, Pagt'_S 304-309, Clede's
Office, Putnam County Superior Court and is the same property conveyed to Ame
Lassen by deed from C. Aﬁhur Gardner, Jr, et al., dated May Zé, 1935, am:l
recorded in Deed Book 6-11, Page 716, said records,

Tract B: All that tract or parcel of land con.taining 200716 acres, more ar |
less, it1 the 390" G M.D. of Putnam Caunty {ieorgia, more partmular]}r described
as Tra-:;ts ! and 2 in a deed from 11 Grady Leverette, It. to Gf:urgla Kraft
Company dated December 22, 1978, and recorded in Deed Book 4-Z, Page 282,
Deed Records, Putnam County, Georgia, the deseription in said deadiiing mcorporated
herein hy reference ﬂwrctn_. ..

Tracts 1 and 2 are contigucus and are bounded, now or formerly, as follows:

and Howard and Mrs. C. W, Pinkerton.

Tract I, containing 183,8?3 acres, more or less, is more particulariy descnbed on -
a plat preparced by Charles William Roberts recorded in Plat Book 7, Page 23, Putnam
County, Georgia records. Tra':t 2, containing 16,843 acres, more or less, is more

particularly described on a plal prepared by Ralph E. Lackey dated December 18, 1978,

-

44



and recorded in Deed Book 4.2, Page 281, Deed Records, Putnam County, Georgia, Said
plats are incorporated herein by reference thereto.

Also conveyed is a non-exclusive 40 .ﬁ}ot eascment t:l:: the sbove tract of
land from Georgia Highway 142 along the common property line of property now
or formerly owned by William Larman, Jr. and H. Grady Leverette, Jr., and being -
the same easement as described in Deed Book 4-Z, Page 282, Deed Records,
Putnam County, Georgia.

.TractC, Ear@_ Li- Al that tract or parcel of land lying and bethg in the .
330" G.M.D. of Putnam County, Georgia @ntaining 61.2 acres, more or less,
according to a plat of survey for Continental Can Company, Inc. made by H. M.
Brown, Georgia R.L.S., dated October 12, 1959, and recorded in Plat Book 2,
Page .1?3, Putnam County, Georgia records; said plat by this reference being
mcorporated herein for a r_ﬁnra paﬁicular and accurate deseription of the property.
Said properly being more particularly described as. oeing boundcd now and
ﬂ:um'w:rl},r as follows: Northerly and easterly by property of Mrs, Charles Pmkertun,
Southerly by property of Ame Lassen; and Weslerly by the Easterly right of way line of
Geargia Highway ﬁc:-- 142,

Said property is conveyed subject to existing easements and rights of way,
\f any, affecting or crossing said property. This is the same property conveyed
from Continental and Sgle;s, inc, to Southem Pine Planiatiens; Ine, by Limited
Warranty deed dated May 13, 1987, and recorded in the Clerk’s Office of Putnam

Supenor Court in Deed Book 6-Z, Page 561.
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LESS AND EXCEPT FROM THE ABOVE DESCRIBED PROPERTY:

All that tract or parcel of land, lying :ﬁd being in the 390" G M.D. Putmam
County, (Georgia, containing 6.23 acres, according to a plat of survey for Arne
Chr. Lassen, dated Scptcm.ber 10, 1988, made by Edwin L. Thompson, Georgia
R.L.S., shown as Tract #2 and recorded in Plat Book 1.5, Page 156, Puinam
County, Gmrﬁa records; sa.id plat E}r this reference thereio being Incorparaled
Lerein for a more particular and accurate descnption of said property. Said
. pmparty_hding nmore ,paﬂicularly_dcscribcd_as being bounded now and formerly as
Ioitows: Northerly by property of Mrs. Jennte (Charles) Pinketton; East;r:riy b}r.
propeity of Mrs. Jennie (Charles) Pinkerton; and Westerly by property of Ame Chr.
Lassen and Sandra Gay Lassen,

PRIOR DEED REFERENCE: The above described 6.23 acres is the same
property as cpnvcyed by Warranty Deed from Ame Chr, Lassen and Sandra
Gay Lassen to Mrs. Jennie (Charic;s} Pinkerton dated October 4, 1988, and

recorded in Deed Book 7-N, Page 254, Clerk's Office, Putnam County Superior Court.

Tract C, Parcel 2: ﬁli that tract or parcel of land iying and being in the
390" G.M.D. of Putnam {ounty, Georgia, cﬁntairﬁng .23 acres according to a.
plat ﬂfsuwcy ﬂ:;r Ame Chr. Lassen, dated September 10, 1988, mads by Edwin L.
Thompson, Georgia R.1.S., shown as Tract #3 and recorded in Plat Book 15, Pape
156, Putnam County, Georgia records; said plat by this reference thereto being
wncorporated herein for a more particular and ascurate desc:ripti-un of said property.

Said property being more patticularly descnibed as being bounded now or |
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formerly as follows: Easterly by property of Mrs. Jennie {Charles) Pinkerton;
Southerly by property of Ame Chr. Lassen; and Westerly by property of Ame Chr.
Lassen and Sandra Gay La.ssen,

Said property is conveyed subject to existing easements and righis of way, if an};,
affecting or crossing said property. |

PRIOR DEED EEFERENGE: The above described 6.23 acres is the same

property as conveyed by Warranty Deed from Arme Chr. Lassen and Sandra Gay

.Lassen ta Mrs. Jenuie {Charles) Pinkerton dated October 4, 1988, and

recorded in Deed Book 7-N, Page 252, Clerks Office, Putnam County Superior Court.
(2) All that tract or parcel of land more commonty known as 155 Mansfield
Court, Athens, Clarke County, Georgia, anﬁ any and all appurtenances and lmprovements
thereon, more particularly descriﬁcd as f(}l]D‘;VS:
ALL THAT TRACT QR PARCE.L OF LAND sitnated lying and being in
the L467* District, G. M., Athens-Clarke County, Georgia being known and
design;-ated as. Lot 7 of Mansfield Subdivision, as shown on a plat entitled “Survey
for Section Two of Mansfield Subdivision”, dated February 15, 1982, by
Landmark Engineering Corporation, said plat being recorded in the Office of the
Clerk of the Superior Court for Athens-Clarke Couaty, Georgia in Plat Book 19,
page 71, which said plat and the recording thereof are by reference incorporated
herein for a more complete and detailed description.

3. Ifany of the property subject to forfeiture, as a result of any act or omission of the

defendant : -
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A Cannot be located upon the exercisé of due diligence;

B. Has been transferred, soid 1o of deposited with a third person:

C. Has been placed beyond thejuris.dictinn of the Court;

D. Has been Euhst.antiai]y diminished in valué; or

E, Has been commingled with other property which. cannot be subdivided withou(
difficulty; it is the i:ntn:pt of the Unit.ad States, pursnant to Title 18, United States Code, Section

2253(0), to seek forfeiture of any other property of the defendant up to the value of the ahove

- - ~torieitable property .of-D’WIGHT YORK, or assels of equal vahee, up to the-value of the above -

forfeitabie property.
All in violation of Title 18, United States Code Section 2253 and Rule 322 of the

F edcral Rules of Criminal Procedyurs.
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Mo,

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
Middfe District of Georgla

N fHacan D.ﬁu.ﬁ:
..
: THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

¥,
DWIGHT 0. YORK, AfKiA
R MALACHI Z, <Gx3 AlMIA
I5A MUHAMMAD, AJKIA
B4 AL HADD! AL _______.u._._n: AND
ASRFA BABA" ’

o  INDICTMENT.

.C. § 5313(a) & 18 USC 2
.C. § 2423(a) & 2

€. §2423(a) & 2 -
C. § 2423(a} & 2 .
5.C. § 2423(n]

. § 2423020 8 2.

C. § 5324(a}3)

ULS.C. § 5393(a) & 48 USC 2
J24{a}{3)

C.§ 5313(s) & 18 USC 2

M,.
. § 5324(ay3)
5.C. m 5313(a) & 16 USC 2
§
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